Transparency and System Support in Peru

Darren Hawkins, Lucas Brook, Ian Hansen, Neal Hoopes, Taylor Rawson

Abstract:

Powerful international actors have vigorously promoted transparency for developing countries, yet we know little about the actual effects of transparency. In this paper, we use a series of survey experiments conducted on the streets of Lima, Peru to investigate a fairly simple question: what are the effects of government transparency on attitudes regarding support for the Peruvian political system? Like many developing countries, Peru lacks much system support, making it more difficult to improve governance and democracy. We find that transparency has little impact on political attitudes, unless accompanied by either one of two conditions: the information is attributed to a credible third-party (in our case, USAID), or the information provides a fram in which the government is associate with comparative socioeconomic wellbeing. Under those conditions, Peruvians increase their approval of the national political community, the regime's performance, regime institutions, and local government. The increases are substantively large, ranging between 6 to 11 points on our 100-point scales, or about half of a standard deviation of the variation in the control groups.

Keywords: Transparency, Peru, Africa, Governance, Survey Experiments

The views expressed in AidData Working Papers are those of the authors and should not be attributed to AidData or funders of AidData's work.



Transparency and System Support in Peru

Darren Hawkins

Correspondence to: Darren_Hawkins@byu.edu Brigham Young University



Lucas Brook

Correspondence to: lbrook124@gmail.com Brigham Young University

lan Hansen

Correspondence to: ianhansen25@gmail.com Brigham Young University

Neal Hoopes

Correspondence to: nealhoopes@gmail.com Brigham Young University



Taylor Rawson

Correspondence to: trawson7@gmail.com Brigham Young University

AidData:

info@aiddata.org www.aiddata.org 🔲 AidData – a joint venture of the College of William and Mary, Development Gateway and Brigham Young University – is a research and innovation lab that seeks to make development finance more transparent, accountable, and effective. Users can track over \$40 trillion in funding for development including remittances, foreign direct investment, aid, and most recently US private foundation flows all on a publicly accessible data portal on AidData. org. AidData's work is made possible through funding from and partnerships with USAID, the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, the African Development Bank, the Islamic Development Bank, the Open Aid Partnership, DFATD, the Hewlett Foundation, the Gates Foundation, Humanity United, and 20+ finance and planning ministries in Asia, Africa, and Latin America.

Contents

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	4
2. System Support and Transparency	6
2.1 Source Credibility	8
2.2 Framing Effects: Comparative Wellbeing	9
3. Experimental Design and Methods	11
3.1 Experiment One: Transparency Portal Overview	12
3.2 Experiment Two: Source of Information	13
3.3 Experiment Three: Framing Effects of Comparative Wellbeing	14
3.4 Survey Design and Administration Method	15
3.5 Dependent Variables: Constructing Indices	16
3.6 Statistical Analysis	16
4. Findings	17
4.1 Experiment One: Transparency Alone is Insufficient	17
4.2 Experiment Two: Source Credibility Matters	18
4.3 Experiment Three: Information Frames Matter	20
5. Discussion	21
6. Conclusions	24
Appendix	27
References	44

1. Introduction

The global transparency bandwagon is large and growing. The Open Government Partnership, launched in September 2011 with eight founding governments, had grown to sixty-five governments by mid-2014 (Open Government Partnership 2014). Among other things, member states commit to "increase the availability of information about governmental activities" as part of the effort to "foster a global culture of open government that empowers and delivers for citizens, and advances the ideals of open and participatory 21st century government." Civil society organizations have promoted and joined this movement through networks such as the Global Transparency Initiative, which promotes openness in international financial institutions such as the World Bank (Global Transparency Initiative 2014). The World Bank, in turn, first developed a governance strategy promoting transparency in 2007 in which it argued that "building 'capable, transparent and accountable' country institutions will be fundamental to ensuring sustainable development" (World Bank 2012). Government officials in powerful states have been important cheerleaders for transparency, claiming, for example, that "transparency can be transformative. It can help build trust, efficiency and save lives" (Macdonald 2011).

Despite these substantial efforts and claims about positive outcomes, we know relatively little about the actual effects of transparency. In this paper, we use a series of survey experiments conducted on the streets of Lima, Peru, to investigate a fairly simple question: what are the effects of government transparency on attitudes regarding support for the Peruvian political system? In the experiments, we asked subjects to watch short videos that highlighted information about Peru culled from online transparency portals sponsored by the Peruvian government. We then questioned respondents about their evaluations of the Peruvian system generally, their views of the regime's performance, their trust in regime institutions, and their trust in local government. These four factors may be conceptualized as constituting important dimensions of system support or legitimacy, terms that we use interchangeably (Booth and Seligson 2009; Norris 2011).

Concerns about the legitimacy of democratic governments in Latin America and other developing countries are widespread. Third-wave democracies remain wobbly in many parts of the world, unconsolidated or "partial" and prone to democratic backsliding or reversals (Hagopian and Mainwaring 2005; Converse and Kapstein 2008), a process that could be caused in part by low or declining system support (Bratton, Mattes, and Gyimah-Boadi 2005). Low system support can become a self-perpetuating cycle because it prevents the government from marshaling resources to accomplish its goals, which then decreases trust levels further (Hetherington 1998). Such a situation is dangerous because "whereas autocratic or hybrid systems can survive for extended periods on the basis of enforced popular

acquiescence or the distribution of rewards, democratic regimes depend centrally on the creation and constant renewal of popular legitimacy" (Bratton, Mattes, and Gyimah-Boadi 2005, 30). Concerns about legitimacy are not confined to the developing world; they also arise in wealthy, developed democracies, usually centered on indicators of trust in institutions (Chanley, Rudolph, and Rahn 2000; Keele 2007). While scholars have sometimes labeled these problems "legitimacy crises," the difficulties seem small when compared with those of developing countries (Gilley 2009, 20-27).

Peru has particularly large problems with system support. Government performance—measured by levels of governance, democracy, rights protection and development—is frequently a good predictor of system support (Gilley 2009, 46-49). In Peru, however, government performance is quite a bit higher than system support. As noted by the 2010 AmericasBarometer survey, "public opinion in Peru has reached a state of deep misgiving and discontent with the country's political institutions, which then influences attitudes towards democracy and its associated principles" (Carrión, Zárate, and Seligson 2011, xxv). Peruvians have a higher tolerance for military coups than all but four other Latin American countries, and they have the fourth-lowest level of support for the political system in the region. Trust in Peru is so low that one scholar characterized it as an "absence" of trust in political institutions (Carrión 2009). Despite promising economic projections, "recent public opinion polls show that most Peruvians exhibit a degree of discontent with their political institutions that is usually associated with situations involving civil strife and economic stagnation" (Carrión 2009). In sum, "In almost all the attitudes that would be conducive to the establishment of a stable democracy, Peru is at extremely low levels when compared to other countries in the region" (Carrión, Zárate, and Seligson 2011, xxvii).

Does increased transparency alter this situation? We find that transparency has little impact on political attitudes, unless accompanied by either one of two conditions: the information is attributed to a credible third-party, or the information provides a frame associating the government with socioeconomic wellbeing. In the first condition, we found only certain sources produced an effect. If the Peruvian government itself is identified as the source of the information, transparency makes no difference in respondents' political attitudes. If a little-known Peruvian NGO is identified as the source of the information, there is also no effect. If the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) is identified as the source of the information, however, respondents' support for the Peruvian political system increases substantially. We attribute these findings to the credibility of the source (Miller and Krosnick 2000; Druckman 2001; lyengar and Valentino 2000), though a different causal pathway is possible. In the second condition, transparency information suggesting that respondents are relatively well off compared to those in other communities also increases system support. We expect this is due to framing effects that associate the government with improved socioeconomic outcomes, but other pathways are possible. Regardless of the particular mechanism, this result suggests an important refinement of the common finding that

government performance influences system support (Espinal, Hartlyn, and Kelly 2006; Levitt 2011; Mishler and Rose 2001). Much of that debate has focused on whether voters are narrowly self-interested or are influenced by the general economy. Our findings suggest that scholars should think about the ways in which citizens make judgments about the well-being of their local communities when compared to others (McClendon 2014; Weitz-Shapiro 2008).

In the first section, we lay out scholarly debates over system support and its causes and address the potential importance of transparency. In the succeeding section, we develop two conditions under which transparency is likely to influence political attitudes: when the information source is credible or when the information provides comparatively favorable socioeconomic news. We then lay out our experimental design and methods. The final section summarizes and reports our findings.

2. System Support and Transparency

While there are a variety of ways to approach political attitudes toward the government, we adopt the conceptual framework of "system support." Utilizing groundbreaking work by Easton, Norris defines system support as "reflect[ing] orientations toward the nation-state, its agencies, and its actors" (Norris 2011, 21). As the definition indicates, system support is a multi-dimensional concept that does not simply refer to citizen support for the political system as a whole, but rather related areas of support at different governance levels. In contrast to Easton's famous distinction between diffuse and specific system support (Easton 1975), Norris identifies five levels: support for the nation-state or "political community," the principles that the government embodies, government performance, public confidence in the institutions of government, and support for specific office-holders (Norris 2011, 24-25). In a sophisticated analysis of public opinion in eight Latin American countries, Booth and Seligson generally confirm the validity and importance of these dimensions but also find a local government dimension to be salient (Booth and Seligson 2009, 49). Other scholars have confirmed the existence of this local government dimension as well (Hiskey and Seligson 2003; Weitz-Shapiro 2008).

In this study, we examine four dimensions of system support: support for the broad national political community, perceptions of regime performance, confidence in regime institutions, and perceptions of local government institutions. Our factor analysis, discussed in more detail later, suggests that these four dimensions emerged from our survey of political attitudes among Peruvians in ways that are similar to the dimensions identified by Booth and Seligson (2009). Our dependent variable, which includes all four of these dimensions, is thus broader than, but related to, the "trust in government" issue that many scholars have examined (Caillier 2010; Chanley, Rudolph, and Rahn 2000; Dalton 2005; Espinal, Hartlyn, and Kelly 2006; Hetherington 1998; Keele 2007; Levitt 2011; Mishler and Rose 2001). Our "confidence in

institutions" dimension is most similar to their conception of "trust in government". Scholars also note that questions about citizen "satisfaction with democracy" are frequently correlated with system support (Canache, Mondak, and Seligson 2001), so we also draw on this literature.

System support is important because it can influence regime stability and the success of government programs (Easton 1965; Easton 1975; Gibson and Caldeira 2003; Gibson, Caldeira, and Baird 1998). In a study on whether political trust matters, Marien and Hooghe (2011) conclude that stability is undermined when trust in government is low. This is a direct result of public unwillingness to abide by the laws enforced by the government, including tax laws (Scholz and Lubell 1998). Morris and Klesner find that decreasing trust increases perceptions of corruption in a self-perpetuating cycle that effectively prevents governments from making much progress in the fight against corruption. Low trust leads citizens to "justify their own participation in corruption and also spawns apathy toward doing anything about it" (Morris and Klesner 2010, 1278). Mishler and Rose (2005, 1069) find that institutional trust contributes "in important ways to democratic values and to citizen involvement in politics." In the relatively new democracies in the developing world, then, we might rightly be concerned about levels of system support and institutional trust.

What determines the extent of system support and trust in government? Most research suggests that government activities and programs— and outputs that citizens associate with government efforts, such as economic growth—have important influences on system support and trust (Espinal, Hartlyn, and Kelly 2006; Levitt 2011; Mishler and Rose 2001). A variety of scholars have found that, among other factors, high levels of crime and/or corruption significantly decrease citizen trust in government (Anderson and Tverdova 2003; Booth and Seligson 2009; Caillier 2010; Chanley, Rudolph, and Rahn 2000; Espinal, Hartlyn, and Kelly 2006; Fernandez and Kuenzi 2010; Kim and Voorhees 2011; Wagner, Schneider, and Halla 2009). Economic performance is also influential, as citizens tend to equate high levels of economic performance with success and efficiency in government, which raises trust levels (Mishler and Rose 2001; Wagner, Schneider, and Halla 2009).

These theories and findings suggest that government transparency might influence political attitudes. Transparency provides citizens with another venue for interaction with their government, and it offers them additional information on government activities and outputs. Transparency, with regard to government, is defined as "the ability to find out what is going on inside government [or]...inside a public sector organization through avenues such as open meetings, access to records, the proactive posting of information on websites, whistle-blower protections, and even illegally leaked information" (Piotrowski and Van Ryzin 2007, 306-308). Transparency is itself an activity of the government, and it also provides information about other governmental activities. As transparency provides information about government

performance, levels of system support could change if citizens are exposed to that information. Despite the increasing use of transparency as a tool, few scholars have studied the link between transparency and political attitudes. One exception is Tolbert and Mossberger who find that the use of e-government (and thus transparency) increases public trust in government (Tolbert and Mossberger 2006).

At the same time, it is difficult for new information to change citizens' perceptions because people often discount new information if it disagrees with their preexisting views (Taber, Cann, and Kucsova 2009; Lebo and Cassino 2007; Taber and Lodge 2006). As Lupia and McCubbins (2000, 48) describe it, "persuasion in political contexts can be difficult. Differing ideologies and competition for scarce resources give political actors a reason to mistrust one another." Even after the collapse of the Soviet Union, many citizens retained deeply held opinions about their government in the face of rapid social, economic and political change (Shabad and Slomczynski 1999). Most people do not have a tabula rasa on which transparency information can be inscribed with clear effects. This makes political persuasion difficult.

2.1 Source Credibility

Since political persuasion has proven to be difficult, information must have certain characteristics if it is to change political attitudes. In fact, whether citizens accept a particular message may have more to do with external cues than it does with the content of the message itself (Lee 2005, 1001). Scholars have identified credibility as perhaps the most important external cue that makes for communicating persuasive messages (Callison 2004; Priester and Petty 2005). Since persuasion is difficult and requires some level of trust, messages have no hope of being persuasive and changing political attitudes without credibility (O'Keefe 2002). Citizens will not be persuaded by a politician or campaign that they perceive as dishonest or manipulative.

Therefore, citizens are more likely to trust and be persuaded by a source they believe to be credible (Greer 2003; Page, Shapiro, and Dempsey 1987). Despite a scholarly consensus on the importance of information sources, the actual elements that contribute to a source's credibility are contested. Many researchers cite the bias associated with a source as responsible for its credibility. Some have found that the political party and/or ideology associated with a source affects citizen perceptions of the information provided by that source (Baum and Groeling 2008; Druckman 2001; Malka, Krosnick, and Langer 2009).

Other researchers note the importance of source status in determining credibility. Druckman, for example, found that people held a significantly higher opinion of an issue if it was attributed to The New York Times rather than The National Enquirer and to Colin Powell rather than Jerry Springer (Druckman 2001).

Similarly, Greer and Pornpitakpan find that high-credibility sources, such as the New York Times, are more influential than lower-credibility sources (Greer 2003; Pornpitakpan 2006). It also has been argued that when an issue is debated, independent sources are more credible than sources associated with the issue (Garramone 1985).

Conceptually, governments that seek to improve their image by providing positive information to citizens through transparency efforts are similar to corporate public relations departments. However, people distrust public relations practitioners because they assume that information selected and reported benefits only the company (Durham 1997; Sallot 2002). People do not accept messages from sources that, although often trustworthy, are lacking in credibility because of a conflict of interest (O'Keefe 2002, 187-190). Attorneys also understand this concept and, therefore, seek to show that, although the testimony stands up in every other way, the witness is biased because of self-interest (Lee 2005, 1002). The public understands that affiliated government agencies, like public relations spokespersons and self-interested witnesses, have biased reporting (Murphy 2001). This is the reason why research suggests that positive information coming from a source that is directly affiliated with a company is less persuasive than information that is attributed to an unaffiliated organization (Callison 2004). Callison reports that if information is attributed to an internal organization such as public relations, it has no chance of receiving a positive audience reaction (Callison 2001). Studies show that while citizens have a favorable opinion of government workers and programs with which they interact, they also tend to distrust the government and public employees in the abstract (Frederickson and Frederickson 1995, 165-67). It is likely, therefore, that if a government advocates for a position, the message is not received as positively as if an independent and hence credible third-party advocates the same position. This may be especially true in countries such as Peru, where government credibility is quite low, as previously noted. As a result, we suggest:

Hypothesis 1: Transparency information will increase system support when it is endorsed by credible third parties.

2.2 Framing Effects: Comparative Wellbeing

Our second hypothesis focuses on the content of the information being provided. The information on transparency websites can frame government institutions and behavior in particular ways. Informally, "framing refers to the process by which people develop a particular conceptualization of an issue or reorient their thinking about an issue" (Chong and Druckman 2007, 105). Frames orient citizen understandings by providing interpretations of events and issues. For example, many more people support a hate group holding a political rally if framed by the value of "free speech" rather than the "risk of

violence" (Sniderman and Theriault 2004). Citizens are of course not blank slates on which governments and political groups inscribe particular opinions, but citizen attitudes are comprised of a large number of underlying beliefs, ideas and values. Where communicative efforts increase the salience of some of those underlying values, citizen attitudes can shift as those values rise to active consideration in citizens' thought processes (Chong and Druckman 2007, 105).

While no piece of information is completely value-free, not all information on transparency websites communicates a coherent frame. In fact, a lot of it is probably difficult to interpret or could be interpreted in a very large number of ways. What does it mean if a transparency website reveals that the government paid a little-known contractor 1,000 Peruvian soles for an office-supplies product? Or if it reveals that the subject of a recent government meeting was traffic problems? Such information probably does not provide a frame capable of affecting political attitudes because it offers no coherent interpretation of government institutions or processes.

What sort of information is most likely to induce a framing effect on opinions about system support? We noted earlier that numerous studies have shown that government performance affects system support. One relevant and important scholarly tradition examines the relationship between economic conditions and support for particular political leaders, especially in the context of voting. In Western Europe, voters appear to be most influenced by the overall state of the economy (Nadeau, Lewis-Beck and Bélanger 2012), but in Latin America the picture is more nuanced (Singer and Carlin 2013, 740). In particular, pocketbook voting—where citizens give greater weight to their own circumstances than to the overall economy—is somewhat more prominent. Some studies have found a strong relationship between the government's provision of benefits and citizen support. Layton and Smith (2015) found that Latin American citizens who receive social assistance are more likely to turn out to vote and to vote for the incumbent. Rosas, Johnston and Hawkins (2014) found that incumbents allocate public and private goods in ways that increase support for the government, with evidence from Venezuela.

Moving outside the voting literature, some scholars have found correlations between personal wellbeing and system support. Hiskey and Seligson found that, in Bolivia, "citizens with more positive views of local government services had higher levels of system support than those who viewed the quality of local government services as poor" (Hiskey and Seligson 2003, 84). Similarly, another study conducted in the Dominican Republic found that "the single most important factor explaining levels of trust in institutions was citizens' evaluation of the provision of basic services, such as education, health, and transportation" (Espinal, Hartlyn, and Kelly 2006, 216). These findings are supported by research conducted in Argentina, which shows that citizens' "evaluations of their nation's and city's political and economic situations" were significantly correlated with measures of system support (Weitz-Shapiro 2008, 296-298).

Interestingly, a study conducted in Belgium produced similar results (Kampen, Van De Walle, and Bouckaert 2006).

While these studies find correlations between citizen attitudes about the economy and system support, they do not offer much insight into the mechanism connecting these two. Framing provides one possible mechanism that has been understudied in Latin America. Citizen attitudes, especially on something as complex as system support, are comprised of many underlying evaluations of the system on a variety of dimensions, weighted by the salience of those dimensions (Chong and Druckman 2007; Jerit 2009). When respondents are asked questions about system support, they are likely accessing related attitudes on more specific dimensions. In theory, these "frames in thought" then influence the way they respond to broader questions like system support. In analyzing public opinion surveys, scholars thus observe correlations on attitudinal dimensions, as just discussed.

If discrete underlying attitudes are influencing system support, then communications that emphasize those particular attitudes (frames in communication) should increase the influence of those attitudes on system support. Observed citizen responses to system support questions will thus change. Communication frames do not create fundamentally new attitudes; citizens have already formed opinions on these issues. However, they do increase the saliency of those attitudes and the weight they carry as citizens articulate their views of system support. Citizens use communication frames as they update their views on issues like system support. If we find evidence that communication frames alter system support, then we increase the likelihood that the correlations found by other scholars between economic assessments and system support are causally related. We also would have evidence that system support can be altered through elite communication efforts, a possibility that previous Latin American research has not examined carefully.

We thus suggest:

Hypothesis 2: Transparency will increase system support when it provides information that frames the government as improving socioeconomic wellbeing and will decrease system support when it frames the government as decreasing socioeconomic wellbeing.

3. Experimental Design and Methods

We developed three separate, but related, experiments aimed at understanding how transparency information affects the political attitudes of Peruvian citizens. The Peruvian government has spent much time and expense in recent years developing elaborate internet "transparency portals" that contain a wealth of information about government activities and a broad array of socioeconomic and governance

indicators. These are collected in the "Portal del Estado Peruano" (Peruvian Government 2014). The welcome note reads: "Here you will find friendly and clear information about the State. The State is getting closer to you!" More than 2,500 distinct government entities—including the office of the president, various other entities in the executive branch, the legislature, the Supreme Court and other courts, autonomous organizations (i.e. universities), regional governments, and various types of local governments—all provide links to information about themselves and their activities. The information is grouped into one of nine categories that range from planning and organization to budgetary information and official activities. With little effort we were able to find information such as yearly expenses on particular public works projects, lists of government contractors and payment amounts, and the make and model of the personal vehicle of a particular city council member, among many other things.

Our experiments were designed to understand the conditions under which transparency might produce changes in Peruvians' political attitudes. The treatments consisted of showing respondents videos ranging from one-and-a-half to four minutes long that displayed information from these official transparency portals and other similar portals. Subjects viewed these videos on tablet computers and then answered questions posed by hired surveyors. Twenty-five of these questions probed political attitudes while the remaining ten questions covered demographic information. We selected all questions from the most recent editions of the AmericasBarometer and Transparency International surveys. These surveys are some of the most well-known and well-respected efforts to collect data on political attitudes, thus enabling us to utilize established, field-tested questions and to engage in comparisons with their findings. We conducted these experiments in Peru's capital city of Lima in public areas with a diverse array of people, such as parks, shopping malls, and busy commercial streets, as detailed below.

In designing these experiments, we sought to preserve the nature of the transparency websites as much as possible, thereby prizing experimental realism. Our videos showed multiple screen shots of the websites, preserving both the content and layout of the information. Our treatments are faithful to the sources and nature of the information found on the websites. In our experiment on sources, we use the actual sources named on a transparency website even though different sources may have been better known or produced interesting results. In our experiment on framing, we used the framing available on a transparency website even though other information frames would be possible.

3.1 Experiment One: Transparency Portal Overview

In this first experiment, we wished to know whether exposure to transparency portals generally would effect change in subjects' political attitudes. We use two treatments and one control. Treatment One

provides only a limited amount of information to the subject, with a video of 1 minute and 40 seconds in length. This video shows the main transparency portal for the city of Lima and discusses the types of information available there, including government investment projects, the mayor's schedule, personal information about members of the municipal council, and government contracts and acquisitions. No specific information about these categories is displayed. Treatment Two, with a video of 3 minutes and 40 seconds, provides a glimpse of detailed information available on the portal in each category. This video shows budget information and location of several government investment projects, details of the mayor's daily schedule, the email addresses and resume of a member of the municipal council, and details on a government contract, including the name of the contractor and the amount paid. The control group received the survey without viewing any information.

3.2 Experiment Two: Source of Information

In this experiment, we wished to understand whether the purported source of the information might influence subjects' political attitudes. The experiment is composed of three treatments and one control. Each treatment, as well as the control, provides the same information on the municipality of Lima, including Lima's budget per capita, illiteracy rate, infant mortality rate, the percentage of households with access to water and sewage, a rating of the government's capacity to execute plans for investments, information on whether the government published required details on the participative budget process, the rate of political participation of women, and information on the local government's accountability to the national government. Where applicable, the statistics for Lima are compared with the national average. Lima generally compares very favorably to other areas of the country on these indicators. We accessed this information on a website sponsored by USAID in cooperation with the Peruvian government and a Peruvian NGO with the purpose of purpose of increasing transparency (USAID 2013). The videos for the treatment and control groups are identical except for the logo that is displayed as the source of the information and the narration for the video that calls attention to that logo. Treatment One attributes the information to the Comptroller General of Peru, an office within the government of Peru that serves (in theory) as an independent auditor. Treatment Two attributes the information to USAID, the foreign aid agency of the U.S. government. Treatment Three attributes the information to Peru ProDescentralización, a little-known Peruvian NGO. The control does not provide a source of the information. We culled the information from a website jointly sponsored by those three entities.

As Peruvian trust in government is so low, it follows that Peruvians would be skeptical of any data provided by their government via transparency initiatives. It also makes sense that an unknown Peruvian NGO could be perceived as not very credible (though this result partly runs against findings by Weber,

Dunaway and Johnson 2012 that unknown interest groups are more credible than well-known interest groups). However, when an independent actor, such as USAID, provides information to Peruvian citizens, it seems plausible that Peruvians would view it as more credible and legitimate. We therefore predict that transparency information attributed to USAID will increase support for Peru's government.

3.3 Experiment Three: Framing Effects of Comparative Wellbeing

In this experiment, with two treatment groups and one control group, we tested whether information about community socioeconomic wellbeing might increase system support. We focused on the district of San Juan de Lurigancho (SJL), one of forty-three municipal districts in the province of Lima. All individuals were shown information on socioeconomic indicators for SJL in comparison with ten other districts in Lima. These indicators included the percentage of children under the age of five that are malnourished, the percentage of households with electricity, the percentage of households with access to water and sewage, the investment budget spent per capita, and the Human Development Index. We retrieved the information from the same website employed in Experiment Two. We emphasized and slightly altered the graphs on the website to emphasize SJL's relative placement.

Existing studies of voting behavior and system support have not investigated whether citizen views are informed by their community's wellbeing. Rather, they have focused on either the citizen's view of her own wellbeing (egotropic) or the citizen's view of the national economy (sociotropic). Yet it is reasonable to think that citizen political attitudes might also be informed by the socioeconomic wellbeing of their local municipality, especially when indicators of that wellbeing are tied to public goods for which the government shares some responsibility. Citizens of course interact frequently with others in their own community and thus form opinions about their quality of life through these interactions.

The first treatment group was shown information in which SJL performed better than ten other districts, providing a frame in which socioeconomic indicators related to government programs were relatively good. The second treatment group was shown the same information, but SJL was contrasted against other districts that performed better. In this condition, the framing suggests that socioeconomic indicators related to government programs are not performing well. The control group was shown the same information on the socioeconomic performance of the respondents' district without providing a comparison to any other districts.

We selected respondents randomly from those walking down a major street in the district, several blocks from the offices of the municipality. The street has a variety of small shops, stores and street vendors and

was relatively busy. However, it was not a shopping or business destination for other residents of Lima. A large shopping mall and major bus routes that may have attracted non-residents of SJL lay several minutes by taxi from this particular street. It is worth noting that SJL is comparatively geographically isolated within Lima by the Rímac River on the south and by hills to the east and west. It is most easily accessible by public transportation from downtown Lima rather than from other areas of the city. It thus seems unlikely that non-residents of SJL—or those without vested economic interests in the area by way of their business—were roaming the street in which we administered the survey, though we cannot rule it out as we did not ask for the district of residence of our respondents.

3.4 Survey Design and Administration Method

Our dependent variable, system support, was measured by a survey consisting of fourteen questions about a variety of political attitudes. These survey items were mostly taken from AmericasBarometer, a survey conducted every other year through the Latin American Public Opinion Project (LAPOP) at Vanderbilt University. For each control and treatment group within each experiment, participants viewed the corresponding video in its entirety before responding to the survey questions. In efforts to curb framing effects caused by item ordering, we randomized the order in which the survey items appeared. We also included a battery of demographic questions at the end of the survey.

The surveys administered to the treatment groups for Experiments Two and Three included an additional manipulation check question designed to decipher which respondents had absorbed the treatment. In Experiment Two, respondents were asked to identify the source of the information they were shown (the Peruvian government, USAID, or the Peruvian NGO); and in Experiment Three, they were required to report whether San Juan de Lurigancho had been compared favorably or unfavorably to other areas in the presentation they saw. Though there was some variance among treatments and experiments in the rates at which respondents answered the manipulation checks correctly, well over half of respondents were able to correctly identify the treatment they had received (see Appendix Table 10).

We conducted these experiments in Peru's capital city of Lima in June and July 2013. We hired and trained a total of twenty Peruvian nationals to conduct the surveys, mostly twenty-something students studying at a variety of technical institutes. Each enumerator was given a tablet computer and assigned a randomized treatment and a randomized selection number. The enumerator then approached the nth person that passed by according to the selection number. If the enumerator was rejected (the person they approached chose not to participate), he or she would then approach the next nth person. Enumerators repeated this process until they were successful in administering a survey. At the end of the treatment

video and survey, the subjects were offered three Peruvian soles (the rough equivalent of one US dollar). The enumerators were then assigned a new random treatment and random selection number, repeating the process.

With an average of ten to twelve enumerators per day working over the course of roughly two and a half weeks, we conducted 1,431 surveys. The average survey lasted about fourteen minutes, though there was some variation across experiments. These surveys took place in four different locations within Lima: a public park in the district of Miraflores, a busy commercial street in the city's center, a middle-class neighborhood in the district of San Juan de Lurigancho, and outside of a popular mall, "Plaza Norte," in the northern region of Lima. We utilized the SJL location only for Experiment Three, which compared SJL to other districts. The conditions were not optimal for viewing and listening to videos, but most subjects seemed to be able to see them and understand them, as demonstrated by our manipulation check. Subjects faced distractions such as loud background noise, street performers, constant movement around them, and—on one memorable afternoon—tear gas from a nearby demonstration.

Some considerations with regards to both external validity and internal validity bear mentioning. First, our experiments were carried out exclusively in Lima and thus we make no claims about generalizing to the population of Peru as a whole or to other countries. Even though we utilized a "convenience" sample of passers-by in public spaces, our sample is not much different from the AmericasBarometer survey (see Appendix Table 1). We include demographic controls in some models of our analyses to help correct for random imbalances between treatment and control groups within a given experiment (see Appendix Tables 2-4 for demographic details on each experiment). As mentioned above, the experimental setting was not ideal; clearly, a busy city street is not a prime survey location. It is possible that differing levels of street activity from day to day could have affected respondents' attentiveness. However, we control for fixed effects associated with the day on which each survey was conducted and find that our findings generally remain unchanged. We also controlled for interviewer effects, also without changing the findings substantially. Finally, we were conservative in our estimates of the treatment effects by selecting a relatively large control group in comparison to each treatment group (Appendix Table 5).

3.5 Dependent Variables: Constructing Indices

Previous research suggests that system support is a multi-dimensional concept (Booth and Seligson 2009). As mentioned, we identified four dimensions of interest: *National Political Community, Regime Performance, Confidence in Regime Institutions,* and *Local Government.* Exploratory factor analyses

suggested the presence of these dimensions in our survey data.¹ We constructed indices for each dimension comprised of three to six questions each. To facilitate index construction, we rescaled individual questions from 0-100 (the same scale used by AmericasBarometer), where 100 represents higher levels of approval or trust. Confirmatory factor analysis of these indices in MPlus provided strong evidence that each index measures a single dimension and that the included indicators loaded well onto the index. See the Appendix (Tables 6-9) for the specific questions used in these indexes.

3.6 Statistical Analysis

We conducted three types of analysis in order to determine the extent to which treatments affected dependent variable outcomes: (1) difference of means tests, (2) standard OLS regression (with variations), and (3) calculation of the complier average causal effect (CACE). In this paper, we report on our preferred model of the OLS regressions that include both treatments and demographic controls (gender, age, race, education level, and income level). For space reasons, we only report the coefficients for the treatment effects; the full set of results may be found in Appendix Tables 11-22.

We also calculated the CACE, a measure that represents the average effect of a treatment on an individual who absorbed the experimental treatment (Gerber and Green 2012, 141-160). The CACE was calculated by dividing the difference between the control and treatment means for a given dependent variable by the proportion of the treatment group respondents who were "compliers," that is, those who correctly answered the manipulation check questions (see Appendix Table 10). Calculation of the CACE allows for isolated analysis of treatment effects when information in the treatment is absorbed and understood.

4. Findings

4.1 Experiment One: Transparency Alone is Insufficient

In Experiment One, subjects watched brief videos that provided an overview of the official transparency portals for the municipality of Lima. The results strongly suggest that, in the Peruvian context, the basic knowledge that the government has undertaken transparency efforts has little effect on individuals'

_

¹ Exploratory factor analysis using MPlus software identified a four-factor model as the most promising. Eigenvalues for the sample correlation matrix reported four factors above 1 and model fit statistics favored four factors when compared to other possible outcomes.

evaluations of their government or the extent to which they believe the government is trustworthy. Table 1 presents the results of Experiment One. As shown, neither a brief overview of the portals a somewhat longer, more detailed overview had a statistically significant effect on the indices, with the exception of *National Political Community* in the case of the detailed overview. This result is robust to all model specifications. It is possible that respondents felt some pride in the nation-state as they viewed fairly positive information about their country. Generally, if the Peruvian government seeks to improve its standing with its constituents, however, it appears that transparency portals alone are insufficient.

Table 1. Experiment One: Regression results

VARIABLES	(1) National Community	Political	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Brief Overview	0.897 (2.770)		-1.109 (2.355)	0.205 (3.641)	0.525 (2.865)
Detailed Overview	7.667*** (2.780)		2.142 (2.653)	5.070 (3.688)	3.789 (2.927)
Constant	52.55*** (8.872)		54.82*** (6.898)	55.61*** (10.22)	43.15*** (8.260)
Observations R-squared	227 0.106		225 0.064	227 0.049	226 0.050

Controlling for gender, age, education, income, and race; Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.2 Experiment Two: Source Credibility Matters

Experiment Two indicates large differences in public response to transparency information depending on the source to which the information is attributed. Interestingly, when presented with socioeconomic information attributed to USAID, Lima residents reported attitudes and evaluations of the Peruvian political system that were significantly more positive than the control group responses. By contrast, when the Office of the Peruvian Controller or an unknown NGO was identified as the source, respondents' attitudes did not change with regard to any of the dependent variables. This contrast seems to indicate that (1) Peruvians attribute differing levels of credibility to different sources; (2) Peruvians do not consider their government to be a credible source, even when a semi-independent office such as the Comptroller is mentioned; and (3) transparency information does, in fact, appear capable of improving respondents'

perceptions of their government, but only when the information is attributed to a source previously considered credible.

Importantly, then, a government considered less than credible seemingly cannot foster credibility for itself on its own; we suspect that if the public does not consider the government a credible source, transparency efforts will likely do little to foster improved appraisals of governmental performance. In general, based on these results, we believe that a credible third-party endorser is required to alter respondents' political attitudes. Table 2 presents the regression results. Results from other models (reported in the appendix) are qualitatively similar, though in the fixed effects model the USAID treatment sometimes loses its statistical significance as the coefficient shrinks slightly.

Table 2. Experiment Two: Regression results

	(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	National	Political	Regime	Confidence in	Local
	Community		Performance	Regime Institutions	Government
Peruvian	0.822		0.900	-2.809	-0.466
Controller	(2.386)		(2.244)	(2.900)	(2.536)
LICAID	5 000tt		0.455+++	4.054*	0.040**
USAID	5.382**		6.455***	4.951*	6.340**
	(2.714)		(2.429)	(2.836)	(3.089)
Peruvian NGO	2.479		1.596	1.056	-0.641
	(2.598)		(2.449)	(3.115)	(2.808)
Constant	41.29***		43.23***	37.19***	43.46***
Constant	(6.381)		(6.184)	(7.637)	(7.156)
	(0.001)		(0.104)	(1.001)	(7.130)
Observations	377		377	379	375
R-squared	0.029		0.058	0.037	0.034

Controlling for gender, age, education, income, and race; Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

The effect size for the USAID treatment is relatively large. Control group means for *National Political Community*, *Regime Performance*, and *Local Government* range between 40 and 52 on our 100-point scale. The USAID treatment raises the index levels by approximately six points in every case. If one calculates the CACE, which accounts for those who actually received the treatment, levels go up by 7 to 8 points. When compared with the standard deviations of each corresponding index in the control group, these increases represent about 38 to 47 percent of those values. We believe increases of nearly half of a standard deviation are substantively large.

4.3 Experiment Three: Information Frames Matter

Experiment Three's findings suggest that individuals' attitudes toward their government improve when they are shown that their community is benefiting relative to others. In Treatment One, residents of San Juan de Lurigancho (SJL) were shown socioeconomic indicators for their community in positive comparisons with other, more poorly performing communities. As Table 3 below depicts, residents responded with improved perceptions of their government on the dimensions of *National Political Community* and *Confidence in Regime Institutions*. Results from other models (reported in the appendix) are qualitatively similar, though in the fixed effects model *Confidence in Regime Institutions* loses significance as the coefficient decreases slightly and *Local Government* gains significance as the coefficient increases slightly.

Table 3. Experiment Three: Regression results

VARIABLES	(1) National Community	Political	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Neighborhood Compares Well	7.649** (3.066)		3.432 (2.822)	7.504* (3.872)	4.569 (3.058)
Neighborhood Compares Poorly	1.708 (3.016)		3.781 (2.776)	3.625 (3.640)	-1.311 (2.828)
Constant	45.41*** (8.271)		46.85*** (7.193)	40.84*** (10.27)	39.32*** (8.761)
Observations R-squared	171 0.113		171 0.036	172 0.051	174 0.115

Controlling for gender, age, education, income, and race; Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Substantively, these increases are even larger than those in the previous experiment. The control group means for *National Political Community* and *Confidence in Regime Institutions* are about 50 and 45 on our 100-point scale. In the first condition, the treatment increases those averages by about 7 points for each index. The CACE calculates the treatment increase as about 10 and 11 points respectively. For each index, this increase is 56 percent of the standard deviation of the control group, a substantively large change.

Generally, this experiment suggests that information frames matter in shaping public opinion. While this result is hardly news, it is more interesting to note that a frame demonstrating the relative well-being of

one's community can improve some dimensions of system support. No previous scholarship on frames or system support has examined such a linkage. In the control group for this experiment, the interpretation of the data was less clear and the frame thus less strong. We simply presented five socioeconomic indicators and briefly showed a figure placing SJL in the context of all of the 42 other districts in Lima. Even someone paying close attention would have been hard-pressed to surmise much more than the fact that there was a lot of data available by district. The first experiment in this paper also lacked strong frames in both treatment and control conditions, again taking the approach of providing a lot of raw information in a relatively short period of time. Hence, we cannot say which frames work the best, but we can say that this particular frame alters system support. As previous scholarship on system support has focused mostly on individual and national levels of analysis, it seems possible that scholars have overlooked an important level of analysis—one's own community—in thinking about the bases of system support (Weitz-Shapiro 2008 is an important exception).

5. Discussion

Why do residents of Lima trust their government more when the transparency information is endorsed by USAID or when the information is framed in a way that associates the government with comparatively good socioeconomic outcomes? While it is difficult to say with certainty, we can bring some evidence to bear on these questions.

It seems unlikely that most Peruvians know USAID by name. Rather, they are likely to rely instead on their views of the United States generally when making judgments about USAID-endorsed information. USAID has made strong efforts to improve branding in recent years and has had some success at increasing public knowledge of the agency and its mission (USAID 2008). Still, it seems unlikely that most Peruvians possess any knowledge of or views about the agency. On the other hand, almost all Peruvians would have some views about the United States. The USAID logo clearly utilizes the letters "US" and "USA," which are well-known acronyms of the United States in Latin America. Our video presentation stated clearly both at the beginning and at the end that USAID is an agency of the United States government. Hence, it would have been easy for respondents to associated USAID with the United States. For Peruvians who do have an understanding of USAID, we expect their views of USAID to be correlated with their overall views of the United States in any case.

How, then, do Peruvians feel about the United States? Baker and Cupery (2013) report that about 80 percent of Peruvians hold favorable attitudes toward the United States, higher than any other country in

South America.² Moreover, they find that aid is a significant predictor of pro-American attitudes in Latin America (2013, 125). Pew research surveys put the U.S. favorability percentage among Peruvians at 65 percent, the global median.³ Perhaps an even better measure is an AmericasBarometer question about the trustworthiness of the United States. In 2012, Peruvian trust in the U.S. government stood at 53.6 on a 100-point scale (Silliman 2014). That level of trust was higher than Peruvian citizens' trust in their own president (52.9), armed forces (52.0), municipal governments (41.2), Supreme Court (40.3), national police (40.1), justice system (39.4), Congress (35.5) or political parties (32.0). It was lower than trust in the Catholic Church (60.5), the media (58.7) or "elections" (55.2) (Carrión, Zárate and Seligson 2012, 129). The survey did not ask about trust in the government generally or in the particular arm of the government utilized in our survey, but one can infer that trust in the Peruvian government generally would be lower than trust in the United States government because most elements of the Peruvian government (Congress, justice system) do not fare well.

It is also possible that respondents were influenced not by good feelings toward or trust in the United States, but rather in its credibility as an outside party with conflicting interests. Most of the information shown in our treatment reflected positively on the city of Lima, including low illiteracy and infant mortality rates, and high access to water and sewage, among other indicators. In 2013 when we conducted our survey, both the mayor of Lima (Susana Villarán) and the president of Peru (Ollanta Humala) were on the left of the political spectrum and expected to implement policies and programs unfriendly to U.S. preferences. Hence, apparent U.S. endorsement of socioeconomic achievements in Lima could have sent a credible signal to respondents that Peruvian government institutions and individuals could be trusted.

It is also unlikely that Peruvians knew much about the other two specific entities in our treatments, the Comptroller the primary auditor of government expenditures, General, or the NGO. PeruProDescentralización. As with USAID, we suspect that our respondents would have relied on attitudes about associated entities as they encountered the names of these organizations. In the case of the Comptroller, we noted in our treatment that it was part of the Peruvian government and in the case of PeruProDescentralización, we simply noted that that it is an NGO. Hence, we expect that we are examining the results of respondents' general views of the Peruvian government and of NGOs. We interpret the absence of change in respondents' attitudes as a general unwillingness to trust either the Peruvian government or unknown NGOs. It is also possible that Peruvians understood the NGO to have a particular political agenda—namely, decentralization, which is the meaning of its name. In this case, some may have found it more credible and some less credible, depending on their views on decentralization.

² See their blog post, "Gringo Stay Here!" at the Americas Quarterly website for specific data on Peru: http://www.americasquarterly.org/gringo-stay-here. Accessed 6 May 2015.

³ Pew Research Center Global Attitudes and Trends, http://www.pewglobal.org/2014/07/14/chapter-1-the-american-brand/, accessed 6 May 2015.

We chose these organizations not for their visibility but to maintain the realism of the experiment. The transparency website we relied on most heavily was in fact produced by these three organizations. The control group viewed unsourced information. It is possible that control group respondents assumed that the information source was the government, thus explaining the lack of change in results when we specifically referenced the government as a source. With respect to the NGO condition, it is perhaps too broad of a category to be of any assistance to respondents in interpreting the credibility of the information. Further research might investigate what would happen if the data source were a more well-known organization.

Turning to the issue of framing, we utilized socioeconomic indicators that would be meaningful and important to most Peruvians and that they are likely to associate with government institutions and programs. We thus expect that as they evaluate how their municipality compares with others, they are also judging the quality of their government, both at the local and national level, as the two levels work together to implement the relevant programs in Peru.

The first indicator in our treatment videos concerned the percentage of malnourished children under five years old. Since the 1980s, the national government has sought to combat malnourishment through well-known programs like "Glass of Milk," which serves children under six (Acosta and Haddad 2014, 28). In the mid-2000s, these programs dramatically increased in scope and visibility. The national government adopted a conditional cash transfer system, JUNTOS, aimed at the poorest Peruvians, with one of its chief goals a decrease in child malnutrition (Acosta and Haddad 2014, 29). Around the same time, it adopted a National Strategy for Poverty Reduction that broadened the approach to malnutrition and that involved decentralization of important programs to local municipalities. A new public-private partnership, the Child Malnutrition Initiative, was established and won public commitments from all presidential candidates in the 2006 election to work on malnutrition (Acosta and Haddad 2014, 30). The winning candidate, Alan Garcia, made it a centerpiece of his first 100 days in office. Problems arose as municipalities either lacked the capacity or the political interest to implement national programs to combat malnutrition, and the success of the programs clearly depends on cooperation between local and national governments (Acosta and Haddad 2014, 32). When viewing indicators of childhood malnutrition in their municipality, Peruvians would naturally associate those with government performance and services.

We make a similar conclusion about the other indicators used in our treatments. Water is a particularly important problem in Lima, which exists in a very dry desert. Access to water was included in the five socioeconomic indicators in our treatment video. The Peruvian government tried to privatize water services in the mid-1990s, but only partly succeeded. Access to water in Lima is thus determined by a set

of overlapping interests, including private companies and municipal and national governments (Rossotto loris 2012). Residents of Lima tend to see access to water as a political game in which the well-off benefit and the poor lose (Rossotto loris 2012, 274). While private companies provide water, government officials determine the process by which those companies bid for contracts, which areas will be served, and the building of infrastructure like water treatment plants. High-profile corruption scandals involving cabinet ministers and utility officials receiving bribes and kickbacks for water services feed public perceptions that the provision of household water services is fundamentally a political decision (Rossotto loris 2012, 274).

In brief, we interpret the increase of trust in Experiment Three to be the result of respondents associating the relatively good socioeconomic outcomes they see in the information frame with relatively good government performance. Why does system support not decrease when respondents see information showing relatively poor socioeconomic outcomes? One possibility is that they expect poor outcomes and so when they observe what they expect to observe, they don't change their opinions of their government. In mid-2013 when we conducted our survey, expectations about Pres. Humala's government were quite low in SJL. In the 2011 election during the two-candidate runoff phase, only 49 percent of the municipality's residents voted for Humala, though this was higher than the 42 percent who voted for him in Lima generally. From April to July 2013, a series of problems drove down his approval rating by 20 points to the mid-30s.⁴ In this context, specific good news about the community's socioeconomic indicators increased system support, though not support for Pres. Humala.

6. Conclusions

A difficult problem in many developing countries is a corrosive lack of confidence in government institutions. While skepticism of government motives and activities undoubtedly plays a healthy role in any democratic system, hard-core cynical attitudes go beyond reasonable skepticism because they are disconnected from actual government performance (Gilley 2009, 49-57). Latin American and Eastern European countries have been particularly susceptible to these "cycles of despair" (Gilley 2009, 55) in which states manage resources relatively well but citizens do not recognize or believe that to be the case. Citizen belief in hapless and corrupt governments can be a self-fulfilling prophecy in which government actions cannot make any progress as no one believes they will do any good. If everyone believes government officials are corrupt, it is easier for them to be corrupt. Likewise, governments might have to allocate resources away from development issues and social problems in order to simply maintain stability and power (Englebert 2000).

.

⁴ "Humala Humbled." *The Economist.* 3 Aug. 2013. http://www.economist.com/news/americas/21582580-lonelier-president-faces-protests-humala-humbled, accessed 6 May 2015.

Transparency is an oft-recommended remedy for many government ills. We wanted to know whether transparency might help break this cycle of cynicism by increasing confidence in the government when citizens feel they can learn more about government actions and when citizens realize that government efforts may produce more positive results than expected. The Peruvian government has undertaken extraordinary transparency efforts on the internet, producing a flood of information about its activities. Peruvian citizens are also among the most cynical in the world; they predict their government will perform 30 percent worse than it actually does (Gilley 2009, 54). Of the 72 states in Gilley's study, only seven have a more cynical citizenry.

Given this level of cynicism, it is perhaps not unexpected that transparency information on its own did little to build system support in Peru. At the same time, we found that transparency can increase system support under two conditions: if the information is endorsed by a credible third-party and if the information is framed to associate the government with comparatively high socioeconomic wellbeing. In those cases, changes in system support can actually be quite dramatic. When USAID was reported as the source of transparency data, system support increased from 6-8 points in all the indexes, or nearly half of one standard deviation of those indexes for the control group. When citizens received information showing that they benefitted relative to other Lima communities, evaluations of system support increased by 7-11 points for two of the indexes, or a little more than half of a standard deviation.

These findings are interesting but do not necessarily bode well for governments trapped in cycles of cynicism. It may be quite difficult to identify credible third-party endorsers without yielding (or appearing to yield) some control over important government data and programs. It may also be psychologically difficult for government officials to ask for or accept outside endorsements. Moreover, if citizens are only satisfied by information suggesting that they are benefitting relative to other nearby communities, then system support can only increase if some citizens improve their wellbeing while others do not, of if they improve more rapidly than others are improving. Such scenarios may be undesirable for a number of reasons.

Our findings have important implications for research on transparency, credibility and system support. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the effects of transparency on political attitudes in a developing country. While transparency is widely applauded and supported in principle, we know relatively little about its effects and need to learn more. Governments do not (solely) undertake transparency to boost system support, but the link between these factors is plausible and deserves further exploration. Peru is not alone in its efforts to increase transparency, nor is it alone in the problems it faces with credibility and weak support for democratic institutions. Transparency is also likely to affect a range of other outcomes that are worthy of more investigation.

With respect to credibility, scholars have repeatedly found that source credibility facilitates persuasion, but they have not fully specified the characteristics that make a source credible. This study raises the intriguing possibility—not previously explored—that one government could serve as a credible source for another with respect to the trust of its own citizens. In international relations, credible third parties are frequently essential for conflict resolution among two warring parties, including civil wars. Perhaps credible third parties could also ease problems created by corrosive mistrust in everyday political life or, alternatively, call into question the credibility of governments whose citizens are too trusting. Finally, this study makes an important contribution to scholarly knowledge about the roots of system support. Most of the literature examines government performance in different issue areas (e.g., political vs. economic) or asks whether citizen attitudes are influenced by pocketbook or sociotropic measures. Our study, on the other hand, suggests the importance of local community wellbeing in increasing system support.

Appendix

Appendix Table 1:Demographic Features of Each Experiment Compared to AmericasBarometer

	Gender	Avg. Age	Education	Avg. Income	Race
AmericasBarometer Lima, Peru 2012	50% Male	40	42% University	901-1010 soles	80% Mestiza
Experiment One	50% Male	35	39% University	1011-1180 soles	73% Mestiza
Experiment Two	42% Male	41	33% University	1011-1180 soles	77% Mestiza
Experiment Three	65% Male	41	48% University	1011-1180 soles	83% Mestiza

Appendix Table 2:

Experiment One Demographics

	Gender	Avg. Age	Education	Avg. Income	Race
Control	44% Male	34	41% University	1011-1180 soles	73% Mestiza
Treatment 1	58% Male	36	34% University	1011-1180 soles	71% Mestiza
Treatment 2	54% Male	37	41% University	1181-1350 soles	79% Mestiza

Appendix Table 3:

Experiment Two Demographics

	Gender	Avg. Age	Education	Avg. Income	Race
Control	49% Male	41	32% University	1011-1180 soles	78% Mestiza
Treatment 1	40% Male	41	33% University	1011-1180 soles	87% Mestiza
Treatment 2	33% Male	39	35% University	1011-1180 soles	71% Mestiza

Appendix Table 4:

Experiment Three Demographics

	Gender	Avg. Age	Education	Avg. Income	Race
Control	63% Male	41	49% University	1011-1180 soles	85% Mestiza
Treatment 1	61% Male	42	49% University	1181-1350 soles	84% Mestiza
Treatment 2	70% Male	39	53% University	1011-1180 soles	85% Mestiza
Treatment 3	73% Male	42	40% University	1181-1350 soles	78% Mestiza

Appendix Table 5:

Sample Sizes

		,		
Experiment	Control n	Treatment 1 n	Treatment 2 n	Treatment 3 n
Experiment One	122	59	59	n/a
Experiment Two	81	52	52	n/a
Experiment Three	182	79	60	70

Appendix Table 6:

National Political Community
Index Makeup

Q Question Summary Question Text 5 Pride in Peru's political To what extent do you feel proud of I

5	Pride in Peru's political institutions	To what extent do you feel proud of living under the political system of Peru?
18	Peru's economic situation	How would you describe the country's economic situation? Would you say that it is very good, good, neither good nor bad, bad or very bad?
21	Level of democracy in Peru	In your opinion, is Peru very democratic, somewhat democratic, not very democratic or not at all democratic?

Appendix Table 7:

Regime Performance Index Makeup

Q Question Summary

Question Text

	-	
11	Performance of President	Speaking in general of the current administration, how would you rate the job performance of President Ollanta Humala?
14	Satisfaction with national gov't informing citizens	Would you say that you are frustrated or satisfied with the national government's ability to keep the public informed about National policy?
15	Satisfaction with national gov't use of resources	Would you say that you are frustrated or satisfied with the National government's ability to use resources efficiently?
18	Peru's economic situation	How would you describe the country's economic situation? Would you say that it is very good, good, neither good nor bad, bad or very bad?

Appendix Table 8:

Confidence in Regime Institutions
Index Makeup

Q Question Summary

Question Text

3	Trust in municipal gov't	To what extent do you trust the local or municipal government?
4	Respect for Peru's political institutions	To what extent do you respect the political institutions of Peru?
5	Pride in Peru's political institutions	To what extent do you feel proud of living under the political system of Peru?
6	How much should one support Peru's political system	To what extent do you think that one should support the political system of Peru?

Appendix Table 9:

Local Government Index Makeup

Q Question Summary

Question Text

3	Trust in municipal gov't	To what extent do you trust the local or municipal government?
12	Confidence in municipality's management of funds	What level of confidence do you have in the good fiscal management on the part of the municipality?
13	Performance of mayor	Turning now to the municipality of Lima, how would you rate the job performance of Mayor Susana Villarán?
26	Municipality fights corruption	How interested do you believe Lima's current municipal government is in fighting corruption?

Appendix Table 10:

Manipulation Check Success Rates

	Experiment two	Experiment three
Treatment 1	67.09%	65.38%
Treatment 2	83.33%	72.55%
Treatment 3	78.57%	

Appendix Table 11:

Experiment One Means Tests

Dependent Variable	Control Group	Brief Overview	Detailed Overview
National Political Community	50	51.27	58.57***
Regime Performance	46.28	45.37	48.83
Confidence in Regime Institutions	51.05	51.34	55.93
Local Government	38.11	38.60	42.32

^{***}p<.01, **p<.05, *p<.1 relative to control group

Appendix Table 12: Experiment Two Means Tests

Dependent Variable	Control Group	Peruvian Controller	USAID	Peruvian NGO
National Political Community	52.41	53.63	58.333** (7.11)	55.08
Regime Performance	46.33	47.20	52.92*** (7.91)	48.28
Confidence in Regime Institutions	50.94	47.89	55.68	51.61
Local Government	39.69	39.13	46.01** (7.58)	39.49

^{***}p<.01, **p<.05, *p<.1 relative to control group. CACE in parentheses when results are statistically significant

Appendix Table 13: Experiment Three Means Tests

Dependent Variable	Control Group	Neighborhood Compares Well	Neighborhood Compares Poorly
National Political Community	49.65	56.44** (10.38)	49.42
Regime Performance	42.80	45.5	45.41
Confidence in Regime Institutions	45.19	52.64** (11.39)	47.14
Local Government	33.58	37.58	30.75

^{***}p<.01, **p<.05, *p<.1 relative to control group. CACE in parentheses when statistically significant.

Appendix Table 14:Experiment One Regressions Without Demographic Controls

VARIABLES National Political Community Regime Performance Confidence in Regime Institutions Local Government Institutions Brief Overview 1.271 (2.856) -0.905 (2.412) 0.291 (3.592) 0.487 (2.771) Detailed 8.569*** (2.412) 2.564 (3.592) 4.882 (2.771) Detailed Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.477) 46.27*** (1.911) 51.05*** (1.622) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations R-squared 238 (0.040) 236 (0.007) 237 (0.009) 236 (0.010)				•	
Community Performance Regime Institutions Government Brief Overview 1.271 (2.856) -0.905 (2.412) 0.291 (3.592) 0.487 (2.771) Detailed 8.569*** 2.564 (4.882) 4.217 (2.818) Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.477) 46.27*** (1.911) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Brief Overview 1.271 -0.905 0.291 0.487 (2.856) (2.412) (3.592) (2.771) Detailed 8.569*** 2.564 4.882 4.217 Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** 46.27*** 51.05*** 38.11*** (1.665) (1.477) (1.911) (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236	VARIABLES	National Political	Regime	Confidence in	Local
Brief Overview 1.271 (2.856) -0.905 (2.412) 0.291 (3.592) 0.487 (2.771) Detailed Overview 8.569*** (2.669) 2.564 (2.529) 4.882 (2.771) 4.217 (2.818) Constant Overview 50.00*** (2.669) 46.27*** (1.911) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236		Community	Performance	Regime	Government
(2.856) (2.412) (3.592) (2.771) Detailed Overview 8.569*** 2.564 4.882 4.217 Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.665) 46.27*** (1.911) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236				Institutions	
(2.856) (2.412) (3.592) (2.771) Detailed Overview 8.569*** 2.564 4.882 4.217 Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.665) 46.27*** (1.911) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236					
Detailed Overview 8.569*** 2.564 4.882 4.217 Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** 46.27*** 51.05*** 38.11*** (1.665) (1.477) (1.911) (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236	Brief Overview	1.271	-0.905	0.291	0.487
Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.665) 46.27*** (1.477) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236		(2.856)	(2.412)	(3.592)	(2.771)
Overview (2.669) (2.529) (3.570) (2.818) Constant 50.00*** (1.665) 46.27*** (1.477) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236					
Constant 50.00*** (1.665) 46.27*** (1.477) 51.05*** (1.911) 38.11*** (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236	Detailed	8.569***	2.564	4.882	4.217
(1.665) (1.477) (1.911) (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236	Overview	(2.669)	(2.529)	(3.570)	(2.818)
(1.665) (1.477) (1.911) (1.622) Observations 238 236 237 236					
Observations 238 236 237 236	Constant	50.00***	46.27***	51.05***	38.11***
		(1.665)	(1.477)	(1.911)	(1.622)
					_
R-squared 0.040 0.007 0.009 0.010	Observations	238	236	237	236
	R-squared	0.040	0.007	0.009	0.010

Robust standard errors in parentheses

Appendix Table 15:
Experiment Two Regressions Without Demographic Controls

VARIABLES	(1) National Political Community	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Peruvian	1.225	0.862	-3.048	-0.559
Controller	(2.374)	(2.223)	(2.881)	(2.513)
USAID	5.926**	6.583***	4.737*	6.319**
	(2.665)	(2.392)	(2.782)	(2.993)
Peruvian NGO	2.672	1.945	0.668	-0.198
	(2.628)	(2.447)	(3.009)	(2.736)
Constant	52.41***	46.33***	50.94***	39.69***
	(1.402)	(1.270)	(1.577)	(1.433)
Observations	387	386	389	384
R-squared	0.013	0.018	0.012	0.015

Robust standard errors in parentheses

^{***} p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

^{***} p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Appendix Table 16: Experiment Three Regressions Without Demographic Controls

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	National Political	Regime	Confidence in	Local
	Community	Performance	Regime	Government
			Institutions	
Neighborhood	6.796**	2.699	7.452**	3.798
Compares Well	(3.018)	(2.707)	(3.761)	(3.158)
Neighborhood	-0.227	2.608	1.943	-3.032
Compares	(3.034)	(2.672)	(3.445)	(2.807)
Poorly				
Constant	49.65***	42.80***	45.19***	33.78***
	(2.078)	(1.697)	(2.293)	(1.867)
Observations	177	178	178	181
R-squared	0.033	0.008	0.025	0.024

Appendix Table 17:
Experiment One Regressions With Demographic Controls

	Experiment One Regro (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	National Political	Regime	Confidence in	Local
	Community	Performance	Regime	Government
			Institutions	
Brief Overview	0.897	-1.109	0.205	0.525
	(2.770)	(2.355)	(3.641)	(2.865)
	(- 7	(,	(/	(,
Detailed	7.667***	2.142	5.070	3.789
Overview	(2.780)	(2.653)	(3.688)	(2.927)
Gender	-3.859	-3.362	-2.219	-1.137
	(2.485)	(2.127)	(3.162)	(2.398)
_				
Age	-0.119	-0.156*	-0.199*	-0.174**
	(0.0834)	(0.0802)	(0.109)	(0.0796)
Education	1.443	1.426	2.933	0.660
	(1.449)	(1.377)	(1.870)	(1.523)
Income	0.723*	0.189	0.0281	0.386
	(0.368)	(0.330)	(0.437)	(0.335)
Race	-1.598	-1.627**	-1.181	-1.295
11000	(0.983)	(0.820)	(1.292)	(0.984)
	(0.000)	(0.020)	(1.202)	(0.001)
Constant	52.55***	54.82***	55.61***	43.15***
	(8.872)	(6.898)	(10.22)	(8.260)
Observation	007	005	007	
Observations	227	225	227	226
R-squared	0.106	0.064	0.049	0.050

Appendix Table 18:

Experiment Two Regressions With Demographic Controls (4) (1)(2)National Political Regime Confidence in Local **VARIABLES** Community Performance Regime Government Institutions Peruvian 0.822 0.900 -2.809 -0.466 Controller (2.386)(2.244)(2.900)(2.536)**USAID** 5.382** 6.455*** 4.951* 6.340** (2.714)(2.429)(2.836)(3.089)Peruvian NGO 2.479 1.596 1.056 -0.641 (2.598)(2.449)(3.115)(2.808)Gender -0.333 -2.975 1.972 -4.163** (2.028)(1.873)(2.293)(2.073)-0.0849 Age 0.0142 -0.0582-0.0652 (0.0601)(0.0552)(0.0670)(0.0613)Education 1.668 1.062 2.420 0.756 (1.327)(1.289)(1.567)(1.327)Income 0.214 0.425* 0.412 0.221 (0.258)(0.220)(0.286)(0.272)Race 1.933** 1.395* 0.905 0.0874 (0.790)(0.836)(0.829)(0.958)Constant 41.29*** 43.23*** 37.19*** 43.46*** (6.381)(6.184)(7.637)(7.156)Observations 377 377 379 375 R-squared 0.029 0.058 0.037 0.034

Appendix Table 19: Experiment Three Regressions With Demographic Controls

VARIABLES	(1) National Political Community	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Brief Overview	7.649**	3.432	7.504*	4.569
	(3.066)	(2.822)	(3.872)	(3.058)
Detailed	1.708	3.781	3.625	-1.311
Overview	(3.016)	(2.776)	(3.640)	(2.828)
Gender	-5.376*	-2.071	-0.802	-1.500
	(2.965)	(2.573)	(3.296)	(2.923)
Age	0.106	-0.0550	0.0293	0.00110
	(0.0838)	(0.0739)	(0.105)	(0.0838)
Education	3.395**	0.921	3.359*	-0.352
	(1.399)	(1.367)	(1.957)	(1.523)
Income	0.174	0.149	-0.0832	0.621
	(0.402)	(0.348)	(0.474)	(0.391)
Race	-1.400	-1.452	-2.081	-4.238***
	(1.066)	(1.267)	(1.481)	(1.234)
Constant	45.41***	46.85***	40.84***	39.32***
	(8.271)	(7.193)	(10.27)	(8.761)
Observations	171	171	172	174
R-squared	0.113	0.036	0.051	0.115

Appendix Table 20:
Experiment One Regressions With Fixed Effects

VARIABLES	(1) National Political Community	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Brief Overview	0.593	-1.427	0.0255	-0.463
	(2.910)	(2.336)	(3.750)	(2.868)
Detailed	6.267**	1.908	3.476	3.575
Overview	(2.903)	(2.662)	(3.785)	(2.846)
Gender	-4.953*	-4.752**	-1.458	0.253
	(2.634)	(2.306)	(3.327)	(2.460)
Age	-0.109	-0.190**	-0.165	-0.143*
	(0.0874)	(0.0793)	(0.110)	(0.0788)
Education	1.830	0.778	0.729	-0.536
	(1.590)	(1.439)	(1.999)	(1.583)
Income	0.700*	0.0410	0.385	0.363
	(0.392)	(0.360)	(0.456)	(0.337)
Race	-2.113**	-2.098**	-1.441	-1.485
	(0.991)	(0.841)	(1.373)	(0.975)
Interviewer 2	-10.12	-3.403	10.07	5.064
	(8.073)	(5.829)	(6.910)	(6.096)
Interviewer 3	-5.612	8.345*	6.047	5.754
	(6.450)	(4.269)	(6.457)	(4.761)
Interviewer 4	-4.962	5.123	20.22***	6.937
	(6.944)	(5.028)	(5.784)	(4.989)
Interviewer 5	-3.087	6.762	14.21*	12.65**
	(7.189)	(5.374)	(8.100)	(6.280)
Interviewer 6	-12.22	0.751	7.424	-3.278
	(9.364)	(7.341)	(10.54)	(8.909)
Interviewer 7	3.818	7.892	0.136	-12.81**
	(8.139)	(6.619)	(8.440)	(6.006)
Interviewer 8	0.693	11.75*	16.92**	9.523
	(6.995)	(6.169)	(7.197)	(7.934)
Interviewer 9	-7.115	1.495	0.655	-0.590
	(7.565)	(5.131)	(8.157)	(6.476)

Interviewer 10	-8.338	10.98*	12.84	9.955*
	(7.816)	(5.664)	(7.884)	(5.481)
Interviewer 11	-0.247	6.810	4.168	1.395
	(7.935)	(5.417)	(7.822)	(6.581)
Interviewer 12	-0.409	10.44*	7.949	7.780
	(7.942)	(6.069)	(9.374)	(6.104)
Interviewer 13	-3.007	0.630	17.80***	0.699
	(6.924)	(5.129)	(6.492)	(4.956)
Interviewer 14	4.989	7.361	19.44***	8.430
	(6.250)	(5.248)	(6.132)	(5.197)
Interviewer 15	-23.39***	12.78**	-36.65***	-31.80***
	(7.139)	(5.309)	(7.072)	(5.840)
Date 2	2.408	-1.234	4.942	7.752**
	(3.964)	(3.529)	(4.898)	(3.763)
Date 3	3.741	-10.79**	2.272	0.703
	(6.173)	(5.150)	(8.166)	(6.151)
Date 4	10.87**	4.587	7.407	8.616**
	(4.680)	(3.852)	(6.242)	(4.360)
Constant	55.20***	58.02***	42.63***	34.61***
	(11.86)	(9.572)	(13.91)	(10.22)
Observations	227	225	227	226
R-squared	0.192	0.173	0.159	0.207

Robust standard errors in parentheses
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Appendix Table 21:Experiment Two Regressions With Fixed Effects

VARIABLES	(1) National Political Community	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Peruvian	-0.148	1.670	-1.800	0.331
Controller	(2.504)	(2.395)	(3.082)	(2.689)
USAID	4.597	5.476**	4.087	5.009
	(2.827)	(2.525)	(2.971)	(3.293)
Peruvian NGO	2.326	2.659	0.327	-0.276
	(2.645)	(2.417)	(3.132)	(2.894)
Gender	-0.277	-3.477*	1.950	-5.510**
	(2.122)	(1.894)	(2.496)	(2.165)
Age	-0.00367	-0.0530	-0.0981	-0.0703
	(0.0644)	(0.0605)	(0.0696)	(0.0658)
Education	1.938	0.626	3.040*	0.452
	(1.426)	(1.379)	(1.693)	(1.425)
Income	0.326	0.427*	0.433	0.308
	(0.278)	(0.248)	(0.312)	(0.299)
Race	1.414	1.271	0.0576	-0.418
	(0.876)	(0.956)	(1.002)	(0.959)
Interviewer 2	0.0159	1.191	-1.008	3.785
	(4.980)	(4.823)	(6.421)	(7.537)
Interviewer 3	7.435	12.69**	0.0881	10.54
	(4.646)	(5.494)	(7.266)	(8.042)
Interviewer 4	5.830	14.14**	4.318	2.948
	(8.000)	(7.080)	(10.33)	(8.604)
Interviewer 5	-7.877	-2.066	-11.41*	-6.116
	(5.104)	(5.306)	(6.569)	(7.333)
Interviewer 6	6.520	4.365	1.670	9.562
	(7.992)	(6.578)	(9.992)	(8.935)
Interviewer 7	6.978	6.821	7.138	7.752
	(5.477)	(5.339)	(6.950)	(8.048)
Interviewer 8	-4.542	-1.903	-7.613	-3.463
	(5.050)	(5.167)	(7.508)	(7.625)

Interviewer 9	-7.938	8.937	-11.57	-6.490
	(9.213)	(8.834)	(12.51)	(9.019)
Interviewer 10	0.397	7.065	-11.39	11.79
	(6.602)	(6.458)	(7.338)	(7.530)
Interviewer 11	-2.252	5.398	-6.571	-0.398
	(5.301)	(5.192)	(6.710)	(7.163)
Interviewer 12	0.671	3.085	-0.375	8.612
	(4.470)	(4.844)	(6.489)	(7.451)
Interviewer 13	2.480	0.0465	-9.796	-1.524
	(5.483)	(5.811)	(7.291)	(7.568)
Interviewer 14	-7.239	1.401	-2.023	-4.678
	(7.241)	(16.45)	(9.997)	(12.41)
Interviewer 15	-1.483	-1.160	-4.447	2.625
	(5.173)	(5.599)	(6.788)	(7.724)
Interviewer 16	-9.785	-14.74*	1.257	5.594
	(13.90)	(8.164)	(16.83)	(11.15)
Interviewer 17	1.444	16.73**	-5.686	2.640
	(7.242)	(7.468)	(9.052)	(10.37)
Interviewer 18	6.391	4.997	-2.631	5.839
	(4.899)	(5.430)	(7.177)	(7.895)
Interviewer 19	-0.00869	-0.0911	2.410	-0.0665
	(7.442)	(6.961)	(8.611)	(9.208)
Day 2	-9.389	-2.424	-13.96	-16.59*
	(7.177)	(6.318)	(9.169)	(8.477)
Day 3	0.362	8.896	-1.016	-5.970
	(7.545)	(6.360)	(8.805)	(6.624)
Day 4	-6.369	-3.710	-8.830	-13.29**
	(5.670)	(5.044)	(7.200)	(5.193)
Day 5	-5.026	2.354	-9.005	-11.33**
	(5.782)	(4.953)	(7.274)	(5.341)
Day 6	1.503	-1.042	-7.075	-12.17**
	(6.315)	(5.087)	(7.795)	(5.973)
Constant	45.55***	40.78***	49.95***	55.24***
	(9.335)	(8.702)	(11.43)	(10.68)

Observations	374	374	376	372
R-squared	0.102	0.145	0.103	0.109

Robust standard errors in parentheses
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Appendix Table 22: Experiment Three Regressions With Fixed Effects

VARIABLES	(1) National Political Community	(2) Regime Performance	(3) Confidence in Regime Institutions	(4) Local Government
Neighborhood	7.373**	3.499	5.858	5.798*
Compares Well	(3.640)	(3.310)	(4.324)	(3.352)
Neighborhood	1.650	2.057	0.803	-1.548
Compares Poorly	(3.177)	(2.896)	(4.165)	(2.944)
Gender	-3.816	-1.057	2.054	-0.489
	(3.190)	(2.704)	(3.481)	(3.011)
Age	0.0795	-0.0563	0.0183	-0.00509
	(0.0961)	(0.0852)	(0.106)	(0.0981)
Education	2.746	-0.608	2.104	-1.015
	(1.898)	(1.603)	(2.102)	(1.539)
Income	0.391	0.338	0.513	0.879**
	(0.438)	(0.384)	(0.542)	(0.387)
Race	-1.432	-1.427	-1.515	-3.895***
	(1.127)	(1.260)	(1.530)	(1.306)
Interviewer 2	-12.94	1.337	-31.97***	-20.02***
	(8.237)	(8.329)	(6.204)	(6.130)
Interviewer 4	-9.171	3.934	-27.89**	1.340
	(7.237)	(6.549)	(11.40)	(6.029)
Interviewer 5	-7.117	4.293	-15.40**	-10.73*
	(7.552)	(7.577)	(7.384)	(5.910)
Interviewer 6	-9.752	4.067	-20.19***	-5.255
	(6.201)	(5.877)	(7.370)	(5.505)
Interviewer 7	-1.223	7.622	-8.601	-3.205
	(5.716)	(5.466)	(5.402)	(4.546)
Interviewer 8	31.79***	17.81***	16.88**	26.04***
	(6.307)	(6.010)	(6.739)	(5.724)
Interviewer 10	-4.522	-5.070	-22.31***	-14.96***
	(5.556)	(4.975)	(6.112)	(5.076)
Interviewer 11	-4.289	10.13*	-10.88	-2.387
	(5.699)	(5.815)	(6.991)	(6.702)

Interviewer 12	-4.838	2.933	-11.22**	-7.005
	(5.467)	(5.399)	(4.727)	(4.765)
Interviewer 13	-7.419	0.00318	-8.975	-14.56**
	(7.355)	(5.308)	(6.871)	(5.667)
Interviewer 14	-5.857	3.470	-18.46***	-8.507
	(6.476)	(5.512)	(6.685)	(6.043)
Interviewer 16	-6.501	-0.569	-18.59**	-4.313
	(7.040)	(5.972)	(7.966)	(5.789)
Interviewer 17	-1.460	-0.309	-8.989*	-7.814
	(6.502)	(7.836)	(5.140)	(8.497)
Day 2	-0.121	2.997	2.840	-2.032
	(4.000)	(3.499)	(4.894)	(3.799)
Day 3	0.637	2.715	-4.200	-3.758
	(4.032)	(3.301)	(5.002)	(3.712)
Constant	48.55***	43.10***	49.20***	44.99***
	(8.766)	(8.248)	(10.52)	(9.522)
Observations R-squared	171	171	172	174
	0.174	0.118	0.199	0.252

Robust standard errors in parentheses
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

References

- Acosta, Andrés Mejía and Lawrence Haddad. 2014. "The Politics of Success in the Fight against Malnutrition in Peru." *Food Policy* 44: 26-35.
- Anderson, Christopher J. and Yuliya V. Tverdova. 2003. "Corruption, Political Allegiances, and Attitudes Toward Governing in Contemporary Democracies." *American Journal of Political Science* 47, no. 1: 91-109.
- Baker, Andy and David Cupery. 2013. "Anti-Americanism in Latin America: Economic Exchange, Foreign Policy Legacies, and Mass Attitudes toward the Colossus of the North." *Latin American Research Review* 48, no. 2: 106-130.
- Baum, Matthew A. and Tim Groeling. 2008. "New Media and the Polarization of American Political Discourse." *Political Communication* 25, no. 4: 345-365.
- Booth, John A. and Mitchell A. Seligson. 2009. *The Legitimacy Puzzle in Latin America: Political Support and Democracy in Eight Nations*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Bratton, Michael, Robert Mattes, and E. Gyimah-Boadi. 2005. *Public Opinion, Democracy and Market Reform in Africa*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Caillier, James. 2010. "Citizen Trust, Political Corruption, and Voting Behavior: Connecting the Dots." Politics and Policy 38, no. 5: 1015-1035.
- Callison, Coy. 2004. "The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly: Perceptions of Public Relations Practitioners." *Journal of Public Relations Research* 16, no. 4: 371-389.
- Callison, Coy. 2001. "Do PR Practitioners Have a PR Problem?: The Effect of Associating a Source with Public Relations and Client-Negative News on Audience Perception of Credibility." *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 13, no. 3: 219-234.
- Canache, Damarys, Jeffrey J. Mondak and Mitchell A. Seligson. 2001. "Meaning and Measurement in Cross-National Research on Satisfaction with Democracy." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 65, no. 4: 506-529.
- Carrión, Julio. 2009. "Peru's Confidence Gap." Americas Quarterly (June): 35-39.
- Carrión, Julio and Patricia Zárate, and Mitchell A. Seligson. 2011. "Political Culture of Democracy in Peru, 2010." *Democratic Consolidation in the Americas in Hard Times*. Research Report, accessed 5 June 2014 at http://www.vanderbilt.edu/lapop/peru/2010-political-culture.pdf.
- Carrión, Julio and Patricia Zárate, and Mitchell A. Seligson. 2012. "Political Culture of Democracy in Peru and in the Americas, 2012: Towards Equality of Opportunity." http://www.vanderbilt.edu/lapop/peru/Peru_Country_Report_2012_English_W.pdf, accessed 6 May 2015.

- Chanley, Virginia A., Thomas J. Rudolph, and Wendy M. Rahn. 2000. "The Origins and Consequences of Public Trust in Government: A Time Series Analysis." *Public Opinion Quarterly*. 64, no. 3: 239-256.
- Chong, Dennis and James N. Druckman. 2007. "Framing Theory." *Annual Review of Political Science* 10: 103-126.
- Converse, Nathan and Ethan B. Kapstein. 2008. *The Fate of Young Democracies*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Dalton, Russell J. 2005. "The Social Transformation of Trust in Government." *International Review of Sociology* 15, no. 1: 133-154.
- Druckman, James N. 2001. "The Implications of Framing Effects for Citizen Competence." *Political Behavior* 23, no. 3: 225-256.
- Durham, Deborah. 1997. "How to Biggest the Bang Out of Your Next Spokesperson Campaign." *Public Relations Quarterly*, 42, no. 1: 38-41.
- Easton, David. 1965. A Systems Analysis of Political Life. New York: Wiley.
- Easton, David. 1975. "A Reassessment of the Concept of Political Support." *British Journal of Political Science* 5: 435-457.
- Englebert, Pierre. 2000. State Legitimacy and Development in Africa. Boulder, Col.: Lynne Rienner.
- Espinal, Rosario, Jonathan Hartlyn, and Jana Morgan Kelly. 2006. "Performance Still Matters: Explaining Trust in Government in the Dominican Republic." *Comparative Political Studies* 39, no. 2: 200-223.
- Fernandez, Kenneth E. and Michele Kuenzi. 2010. "Crime and Support for Democracy in Africa and Latin America." *Political Studies* 58: 450-471.
- Frederickson, H. George and David G. Frederickson. 1995. "Public Perceptions of Ethics in Government."

 Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 537: 163-172.
- Garramone, Gina M. 1985. "Effects of Negative Political Advertising: The Roles of Sponsor and Rebuttal." *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media* 29, no. 2: 147-159.
- Gerber, Alan S. and Donald P. Green. 2012. *Field Experiments: Design, Analysis, and Interpretation.* New York: W.W. Norton and Company.
- Gibson, James L. and Gregory A. Caldeira. 2003. "Defenders of Democracy? Legitimacy, Popular Acceptance, and the South African Constitutional Court." *Journal of Politics* 65, no.1: 1-30.
- Gibson, James L., Gregory A. Caldeira, and Vanessa A. Baird. 1998. "On the Legitimacy of the National High Courts." *American Political Science Review* 92, no. 2: 343-358.
- Gilley, Bruce. 2009. The Right to Rule: How States Win and Lose Legitimacy. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Global Transparency Initiative. "What is the GTI?" About the GTI. http://www.ifi transparency.org/about.shtml.

- Greer, Jennifer D. 2003. "Evaluating the Credibility of Online Information: A Test of Source and Advertising Influence." *Mass Communication and Society* 6, no. 1: 11-28.
- Hagopian, Frances and Scott P. Mainwaring. 2005. *The Third Wave of Democratization in Latin America: Advances and Setbacks.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Hetherington, Marc J. 1998. "The Political Relevance of Political Trust." *American Political Science Review* 92, no. 4: 791-808.
- Hiskey, Jonathan T. and Mitchell A. Seligson. 2003. "Pitfalls of Power to the People: Decentralization, Local Government Performance, and System Support in Bolivia." *Studies in Comparative International Development* 37, no. 4: 64-88.
- Rossotto Ioris, Antonio Augusto. 2012. The neoliberalization of water in Lima, Peru. *Political Geography* 31(5): 266-278.
- Iyengar, Shanto and Nicholas A. Valentino. 2000. "Who Says What? Source Credibility as a Mediator of Campaign Advertising." In *Elements of Reason: Cognition, Choice, and the Bounds of Rationality*, ed. Arthur Lupia, Mathew McCubbins, and Samuel Popkin. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Jerit, Jennifer. 2009. "How Predictive Appeals Affect Policy Opinions." *American Journal of Political Science* 53(2): 411-426.
- Kampen, Jarl K., Steven Van De Walle, and Geert Bouckaert. 2006. "Assessing the Relation between Satisfaction with Public Service Delivery and Trust in Government. The Impact of the Predisposition of Citizens toward Government on Evaluations of Its Performance." *Public Performance and Management Review* 29, no. 4: 387-404.
- Keele, Luke. 2007. "Social Capital and the Dynamics of Trust in Government." *American Journal of Political Science* 51, no. 2: 241-254.
- Kim, Myunghee and Mychal Voorhees. 2011. "Government Effectiveness and Institutional Trust in Japan, South Korea, and China." *Asian Politics & Policy* 3, no. 3: 413-432.
- Layton, Matthew L. and Amy Erica Smith. 2015. "Incorporating Marginal Citizens and Voters: The Conditional Electoral Effects of Targeted Social Assistance in Latin America." *Comparative Political Studies* 48(7): 854-881.
- Lebo, Matthew J. and Daniel Cassino. 2007. "The Aggregated Consequences of Motivated Reasoning and the Dynamics of Partisan Presidential Approval." *Political Psychology* 28, no. 6: 719-746.
- Lee, Gia. 2005. "Persuasion, Transparency and Government Speech." *Hastings Law Journal* 56, no. 5: p. 983.
- Levitt, Barry S. 2011. "Institutional Trust and Congressional Autonomy in Latin America: Expectations, Performance, and Confidence in Peru's Legislature." *Journal of Politics in Latin America* 3, no. 2: 73-105.

- Lupia, Arthur and Mathew D. McCubbins. 2000. "The Institutional Foundations of Political Competence:

 How Citizens Learn What They Need to Know." In *Elements of Reason: Cognition, Choice, and the Bounds of Rationality*, ed. Arthur Lupia, Mathew McCubbins, and Samuel Popkin. New York:

 Cambridge University Press.
- Macdonald, Alistair. 2011. "U.K. Pushes for Government Transparency." *Wall Street Journal*, September 20. http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB1000142405311190410670457 658071380 4299134?mg=reno64-wsj&url=http%3A%2F%2Fonline.wsj.co m%2Farticle%2FSB1000142405 3111904106704576580713804299134.html.
- Malka, Ariel, Jon A. Krosnick, and Gary Langer. 2009. "The Association of Knowledge with Concern About Global Warming: Trusted Information Sources Shape Public Thinking." *Risk Analysis* 29, no. 5: 2009.
- Marien, Sofie and Marc Hooghe. 2011. "Does Political Trust Matter? An Empirical Investigation into the Relation Between Political Trust and Support for Law Compliance." *European Journal of Political Research* 50: 267-291.
- McClendon, Gwyneth H. 2012. "The Politics of Envy and Esteem in Two Democracies." Disseration.

 Princeton University.
- Miller, Joanne M. and Jon A. Krosnick. 2000. "News Media Impact on the Ingredients of Presidential Evaluations: Politically Knowledgeable Citizens are Guided by a Trusted Source." *American Journal of Political Science* 44, no. 2: 301-315.
- Mishler, William and Richard Rose. 2001. "What are the Origins of Political Trust?: Testing Institutional and Cultural Theories in Post-Communist Societies." *Comparative Political Studies* 34, no. 1: 20-62.
- Mishler, William and Richard Rose. 2005. "What Are the Political Consequences of Trust?: A Test of Cultural and Institutional Theories in Russia." *Comparative Political Studies* 38, no. 9: 1050-1078.
- Morris, Stephen D. and Joseph L. Klesner. 2010. "Corruption and trust: Theoretical considerations and evidence from Mexico." *Comparative Political Studies* 43, no. 10: 1258-1285.
- Murphy, Priscilla. 2001. "Affiliation Bias and Expert Disagreement in Framing the Nicotine Addiction Debate." *Science, Technology, and Human Values*, 26, no. 3: 278-299.
- Nadeau, Richard, Michael S. Lewis-Beck, and Eric Bélanger. 2012. Economics and Elections Revisited. *Comparative Political Studies* 46(5): 551-573.
- Norris, Pippa. 2011. Democratic Deficit. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- O'Keefe, D. J. 2002. Persuasion: Theory and Research. California: Sage Publications.
- Open Government Partnership. 2013. "What is the Open Government Partnership?" About. http://www.opengovpartnership.org/about.
- Page, Benjamin I., Robert Y. Shapiro, and Glenn R. Dempsey. 1987. "What Moves Public Opinion?" American Political Science Review 81, no. 1: 23-44.

- Peruvian Government. 2014. "Portal de Transparencia Estandar." Portal del Estado Peruano. Last modified March 11. http://www.peru.gob.pe/transparencia/pep_transparencia.asp.
- Piotrowski, Suzanne J. and Gregg G. Van Ryzin. 2007. "Citizen Attitudes Toward Transparency in Local Government." *American Review of Public Administration* 37, no. 3: 306-323.
- Pornpitakpan, Chanthika. 2006. The Persuasiveness of Source Credibility: A Critical Review of Five Decades' Evidence. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 34 (2): 243-281.
- Priester, Joseph R., and Richard E. Petty. "Source attributions and persuasion: Perceived honesty as a determinant of message scrutiny." Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 21, no. 6 (1995): 637-654.
- Rosas, Guillermo, Noel P. Johnston and Kirk Hawkins. 2014. "Local public goods as vote-purchasing devices? Persuasion and mobilization in the choice of clientelist payments." *Journal of Theoretical Politics* 26(4): 573-598.
- Sallot, L. M. 2002. "What the Public Thinks about Public Relations: An Impression Management Experiment." *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly* 79, no. 1: 150-171.
- Scholz, John T. and Mark Lubell. 1998. "Trust and Taxpaying: Testing the Heuristic Approach to Collective Action." *American Journal of Political Science* 42, no. 2: 398-417.
- Shabad, Goldie and Kazimierz M. Slomczynski. 1999. "Political Identities in the Initial Phase of Systemic Transformation in Poland: A Test of the Tabula Rasa Hypothesis." *Comparative Political Studies* 32, no. 6: 690-723.
- Silliman, Laura. 2014. Bridging Inter-American Divides: Views of the U.S. Across the Americas."

 AmericasBarometer Instights: 2014, Number 105.

 **http://www.vanderbilt.edu/lapop/insights/IO905en.pdf, accessed 6 May 2015.
- Singer, Matthew M. and Ryan E. Carlin. 2013. "Context Counts: The Election Cycle, Development, and the Nature of Economic Voting." *The Journal of Politics* 75(3): 730-742.
- Sniderman, Paul M. and Sean M. Theriault. 2004. "The Structure of Political Argument and the Logic of Issue Framing." In Willem E. Saris and Paul M. Sniderman, eds., *Studies in Public Opinion:*Attitudes, Nonattituudes, Measurement Error and Change, pp. 133-165. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Taber, Charles S. and Milton Lodge. 2006. "Motivated Skepticism in the Evaluation of Political Beliefs." American Journal of Political Science 50, no. 3: 755-769.
- Taber, Charles S., Damon Cann, and Simona Kucsova. 2009. "The Motivated Processing of Political Arguments." *Political Behavior* 31, no. 2: 137-55.
- Tolbert, Caroline J. and Karen Mossberger. 2006. "The Effects of E-Government on Trust and Confidence in Government." *Public Administration Review* 66, no. 3: 354-369.
- USAID. 2013. "Barómetro de Gobernabilidad." Peru Prodescentralización. http://www.prodescentralizacion.org. pe/ barometro/index.php#.

- USAID. 2008. "From the American People: Why the Story That U.S. Foreign Assistance is Working Must Be Told: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Voluntary Foreign Aid." http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1868/pub_outreach_final.pdf, accessed 6 May 2015.
- Wagner, Alexander F., Friedrich Schneider, and Martin Halla. 2009. "The Quality of Institutions and Satisfaction with Democracy in Western Europe A Panel Analysis." *European Journal of Political Economy* 25, no. 1: 30-41.
- Weber, Christopher, Johanna Dunaway, and Tyler Johnson. 2012. "It's All in the Name: Source Cue Ambiguity and the Persuasive Appeal of Campaign Ads." *Political Behavior* 34, no. 3: 561-584.
- Weitz-Shapiro, Rebecca. 2008. "The Local Connection: Local Government Performance and Satisfaction with Democracy in Argentina." *Comparative Political Studies* 41, no. 3: 285-308.
- World Bank. 2012. "Strengthening Governance: Tackling Corruption." The World Bank Group's Updated Strategy and Implementation Plan, March 6. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/PUBLICSECTORANDGOVERNANCE/Resources/285741-1326816182754/GAC StrategyImple\mentationPlan.pdf.